Trade credit with firms' life cycle: Evidence from Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET)



An Independent Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Finance Department of Banking and Finance FACULTY OF COMMERCE AND ACCOUNTANCY Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2022 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

# ผลกระทบของวงจรธุรกิจต่อเครดิตการค้า : กรณีศึกษาจากตลาดหลักทรัพย์แห่งประเทศไทย (ตลท.)



สารนิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาการเงิน ภาควิชาการธนาคารและการเงิน คณะพาณิชยศาสตร์และการบัญชี จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2565 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Independent Study Title	Trade credit with firms' life cycle: Evidence from Stock		
	Exchange of Thailand (SET)		
Ву	Mr. Chaiwat Sae-low		
Field of Study	Finance		
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor NARAPONG SRIVISAL		

## Accepted by the FACULTY OF COMMERCE AND ACCOUNTANCY,

Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

INDEPENDENT STUDY COMMITTEE

Chairman
0
Advisor
(Assistant Professor NARAPONG SRIVISAL)
Examiner
(Associate Professor SIRA SUCHINTABANDID)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor SUPARATANA
TANTHANONGSAKKUN)

ชัยวัฒน์ แซ่โล้ว : ผลกระทบของวงจรธุรกิจต่อเครดิตการค้า : กรณีศึกษาจากตลาด หลักทรัพย์แห่งประเทศไทย (ตลท.). ( Trade credit with firms' life cycle: Evidence from Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET)) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : นราพงศ์ ศรีวิศาล

This study examines how firms' life cycle affects Trade credit including the recession period by using evidence from Stock Exchange Thailand (SET). The study has been performed during 2000 – 2020 with 253 listed firms. Regarding results, it suggested that the firm life cycle has a significant impact on AR and AP days, except for AP's growth. During the recession period, AP days for the introduction and mature stage have no positive impact. The empirical also finds there are no significant levels for the introduction and mature stage of AR and AP days, which have a high level of market concentration during the recession period.



สาขาวิชา	การเงิน	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
สีป	2565	ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
การศึกษา		

### # # 6284014426 : MAJOR FINANCE

#### **KEYWORD:**

Chaiwat Sae-low : Trade credit with firms' life cycle: Evidence from Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET). Advisor: Asst. Prof. NARAPONG SRIVISAL

This study examines how firms' life cycle affects Trade credit including the recession period by using evidence from Stock Exchange Thailand (SET). The study has been performed during 2000 – 2020 with 253 listed firms. Regarding results, it suggested that the firm life cycle has a significant impact on AR and AP days, except for AP's growth. During the recession period, AP days for the introduction and mature stage have no positive impact. The empirical also finds there are no significant levels for the introduction and mature stage of AR and AP days, which have a high level of market concentration during the recession period.



Field of Study:	Finance	Student's Signature
Academic	2022	Advisor's Signature
Year:		

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to express my gratitude, Asst. Prof. Narapong Srivisal, Ph.D. for useful advice and suggestions which are really helpful to me during the project. I also thank to committees, Asst. Prof. Suparatana Tanthanongsakkub, Ph.D. and Assoc. Prof. Sira Suchintabandid, Ph.D. for their review and suggestion in order to make the project greater.

Finally, I'd be grateful to my family and MSF FX#14 friends for their support and encouragement during this challenging period.



Chaiwat Sae-low

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
	iii
ABSTRACT (THAI)	iii
	iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
TABLE OF CONTENTS.	vi
1. Introduction	8
1.1)Background	8
1.2)Objectives:	9
2. Literature review	10
3. Theory and Hypotheses	13
4. Data	16
4.1) Data and sample	16
4.2) Dependent variable: Trade credit	16
4.3) Independent variable:	17
4.3.1) Firm life cycle stages	17
4.3.2) Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI)	17
4.4) Control variables	
4.5) Empirical model	
4.5.1) The impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit.	

	4.5.2) The impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during Thailand recession	
	period	.21
	4.5.3) The impact of market concentration on trade credit during recession	
	period	. 22
5.	Empirical results	.24
5.	1) Descriptive statistic results	.24
5.2	2) Empirical findings	.29
	5.2.1) Analysis of the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit	.29
	5.2.2) Analysis of the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during recession	۱
	period	. 32
	5.2.3) Analysis of an impact of market concentration on trade credit during	
	recession period.	. 35
6.	Conclusion	. 37
7.	Appendix:	. 38
Ap	opendix 1: Example of firms in each stages	. 38
Ap	opendix 2: Number of firms' stage during 2000 – 2020	. 39
Ap	opendix 3: Number of introduction firms during 2000 – 2020	. 39
Ap	opendix 4: Numbers of growth firms during 2000 – 2020	.40
Ap	opendix 5: Number of shake-out firms during 2000 – 2020	.40
Ap	opendix 6: Number of mature firms during 2000 – 2020	.41
Ap	opendix 7: Number of decline firms during 2000 - 2020	.41
REFE	ERENCES	.42
VITA		.47

### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1) Background

Trade credit is a source of short term financing which is considered as external financing offered by suppliers to customers. Firms use trade credit to purchase goods or services as account payable (AP), representing the credit that a firm owes to their suppliers, and offer their financing to customers as account receivable (AR) which AR and AP are known as one of firm's working capital. When compared to other types of financing, such as bank loans as well as considering social and governance, risk and environmental trade credit have played a significant role in the firm expansion (Garmaise and Moskowitz 2003) and as a source of funds for both small and large businesses (Petersen and Rajan 1997). Moreover, suppliers could support the sustainability of their customer's supply chain while also collaborating in their financing by proposing benefits and incentives via terms and payment conditions (Bancilhon, Karge et al. 2018).

In term of trade credit usage, several papers have focused on the SME section (see e.g. (Matias Gama and Van Auken 2015); (McGuinness and Hogan 2016). McMillan and Woodruff (1999) and Marotta (2005) reveal that small firms with limited financial resources provide trade credit though their empirical evidence relies on rather small samples of survey information. According to, Fabbri and Klapper (2016), big corporations have more bargaining power in relationships with suppliers and customers than smaller companies. The identification's relationship between suppliers and clients present a mechanical size bias, as suppliers have significantly smaller asset sizes than their clients.

Market concentration is a count of the number of firms in a market and their respective shares of total production. It is related to industrial concentration, which refers to the distribution of production within an industry. A market's competitiveness decreases as it becomes more concentrated. A market with a low concentration of participants is not considered competitive since it is not dominated by any large players. As a result, market concentration may play a role in both the trade credit terms that suppliers offer to customers and the terms that customers actually utilize. Previous research has looked at the differences in trade credit between younger and older SMEs. Casey and O'Toole

(2014) discovered that age has a positive effect on trade credit. Age has no effect, according to Andrieu, Staglianò et al. (2018) and Yazdanfar and Öhman (2017). Conversely, Deloof and La Rocca (2015) and Canto-Cuevas, Palacín-Sánchez et al. (2016) find that age has a negative effect. In terms of the relationship between the life cycle of SME firms and the use of trade credit, Canto-Cuevas, Palacín-Sánchez et al. (2019) find a negative relationship between the life cycle of SME firms and the use of trade credit. As a result, younger manufacturing SMEs are more likely to use trade credit. The research focuses on manufacturing SMEs and uses the firm's variable age to define the life cycle. As aforementioned, previous papers appear to have some research gaps that need to be investigated further. As a consequence, my research used Dickinson (2011) to define the company life cycle, which is different from the single measurement of a business's age, and to analyze whether the firm life cycle affects trade credit on both the demand and supply sides. Furthermore, during normal and recessionary situations, trade credit strategies for different stages of businesses may change. This is an intriguing topic for additional investigation to see if the firm life cycle has an impact on trade credit during a recession. Furthermore, previous research hasn't looked into market concentrations or the life cycle of trade credit. According to Dias, Novaes et al. (2022), increasing market concentration reduces inherent risk and, as a result, lowers the implied cost of capital.

The purpose of this paper is to investigate the impact of firm life cycle to trade credit during Thailand during normal and recession periods, as well as examine the relationship between trade credit and market concentration during recession period. Our empirical analysis is based on a sample of Thai listed firms from 2001 to 2020.

- 1.2) Objectives:
  - To examine the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit
  - To examine the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during Thailand recession period.
  - To compare the behavior of trade credit between normal and recession periods.
  - To examine the impact of high market concentration on trade credit during recession period.

#### 2. Literature review

The conventional explanation is that trade credit serves a non-financial function. Trade credit lowers transaction costs (Ferris 1981), permits price discrimination between customers with varying creditworthiness (Brennan, Maksimovics et al. 1988), and even provides a quality guarantee when customers are unable to observe product characteristics (Long, Malitz et al. 1993). Recently, financial theories claim that suppliers have a lending benefit over financial institutions due to superior information (Biais and Gollier 1997), lower borrower's opportunism (Burkart and Ellingsen 2004), or a liquidation advantage (Fabbri and Menichini 2010). Trade credit is widely used all around the world. In the study of 34 nations, Levine, Lin et al. (2018) discovered on the average portion of trade credit contribute to 25% of the total liabilities. Several research, including Schwartz (1974), Biais and Gollier (1997), and Burkart and Ellingsen (2004), have found that when businesses are facing to acquire bank credit during recession periods, they receive greater trade credit as matching with Petersen and Rajan (1997) who discovered that they will increase trade credit when businesses experience negative cash flows and sales losses. Ferris (1981) reveals that firms will reduce their inventory and finished goods unbalance by trying to adjust the maturity of account payables and receivables. While firms are having a high level of inventories, raw material or finished goods, they will buy less and wait for the lower in finished goods. According to Choi and Kim (2005), tightening monetary policy raises both accounts payable and receivable. A reduction in the money supply during periods of strong economic growth, where trade credit can assist firms in absorbing the effect of credit contraction. Wilner (2000) finds that in order to sustain a long-term commercial relationship, suppliers' trade credit are inclined to support customers during times of financial distress.

During a recession period, trade credit, which has the potential to act as alternative finance offered by raw material of suppliers, should become a more essential source of financing, and its usage should rise because suppliers might know their customer's information and regulation than financial institutions (Love and Zaidi 2010). Coulibaly, Sapriza et al. (2013) find that during economic downturns, trade credit will be

used more than bank loan as well as Policymakers will be able to explore the development of trade credit, which may not be interesting in a normal situation but could be advantageous during times of recession when credit markets constrict.

The product market interaction of rival firms is referred to as product market competition. The concentration ratio of a market, known as the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI), is the most commonly used indicator of product market competition (Kim and Joo 2013). HHI is a method for assessing firm competition in the product market. According to Giroud and Mueller (2010), HHI is calculated as the sum squared of the industry's 50 largest company market shares. If an industry has fewer than 50 companies, the HHI is calculated using all of the companies in that industry.

There is a relationship between the trade credit and the potential for a company to develop through various stages of the firm life cycle. Dickinson (2011) stated the method to measure the stages of firms as our primary independent variable by using the different of cash flow characteristic. In the firm life cycle research, many indicators are expected to be the characteristic of the different stages such as firm age, growth and size which follow the linear or sequential patterns. Some papers such as Lester, Parnell et al. (2003), Miller and Friesen (1984) pointed out that the firm life cycle does not follow the logical patterns which are possible reason come from the theory of strategic choice, describing the role of leading groups play in influencing an organization through decision-making in a dynamic political process. However, most empirical studies measure the firm life cycle by applying firm age, growth, and size.

Dickinson (2011) proposes a cyclical measure of a firm's life cycle stage based on cash flow patterns, the cash flow patterns-based model has two key benefits over original life cycle models. Firstly, it totally represents company's financial information rather than using a single indicator of firm's characteristics such as firm age, sales, growth, size, and strategies. Secondly, cash flow patterns are cyclical in nature and reflects the current state of the business cycle. As a result, cash flow patterns are a better proxy for the stages of the corporate life cycle. The most successful firm might never experience a downturn or reset to the introduction. However, if the company has stable flow of new products or innovation, company's business cycle is between growth and maturity. The cyclical measurement is divided into five stages as Introduction growth, matures, decline and shake-out.

To conclude, we contribute to the existing literature in both ways. Firstly, we determine the factor of trade credit by exploring the relation of different firm life cycle stages during both normal and recession periods. Secondly, we broaden the scope to examine the impact of market concentration on trade credit during recession period.



**Chulalongkorn University** 

#### 3. Theory and Hypotheses

The study of the relationship between the financial resources and the life cycle is that there is a certain degree of consensus with respect to firm's life cycle. Consequently, their financial needs and the availability of financial resources also change.

#### Hypotheses development

H1a: Firms in the introduction stage have fewer AR days than mature stage.

H1b: Firms in the growth stage have fewer AR days than the mature stage.

H1c: Firms in the introduction stage have more AP days than the mature stage.

H1d: Firms in the growth stage have more AP days than the mature stage.

Firm life cycle theory suggests that during different firm life cycle stages every firm has different resources and capabilities. In the introduction and growth stages find the large opportunities in the market. They need to invest in the high growth project as new product innovation, a capacity increasing to compete with their competitors. Therefore, they have faced a scarcity of resources as financial constraints. In order to prevent illiquidity or working capital problem, they require more AP days, borrowing more, and supply less AR days, which they can maintain the minimum working capital. than mature firms that they firms are usually large and face lower working capital risk, mainly due to diversification and a large consumer base.

**Ghulalongkorn University** 



Figure 1: Focused scope

H2a: Firms in the introduction stage have a significantly positive impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

H2b: Firms in the growth stage have a significantly positive impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

H2c: Firms in the mature stage have no impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

When introduction or growth firms face the uncertainty of economic as the recession period, they might suffer from lack of liquidity because it is difficult to obtain external capital. Therefore, to maintain the minimum level of liquidity, introduction or growth firms require more AP days from their suppliers.

In the product market, introduction or growth firms have received credit from their suppliers as introduction, growth, mature and declining firms. However, most partnerships of introduction and growth firms are mature firms due to the large customer base, which mature firms have more strong financial position than introduction and growth firms because of their diversification. As the result, during recession period mature firms can offer more credit terms to introduction or growth firms to keep their relationship with them.

H3a: Firms in the introduction, growth, or mature stage, which have high market concentration, are a significantly negative impact on AR days during Thailand recession period.

H3b: Firms in introduction, growth, or mature stage, which have high market concentration, are a significantly positive impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

Market concentration is the degree of competition in the product market. When companies have high market concentration, which the product market is not much competition, a few firms supply the same products. Companies are in a strong position to enforce shorter AR days from their partners. On the other hand. Suppliers of high market concentration firms know that even during the RCI period product still be needed, therefore, they would allow more AP to high market concentration firms.



**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

#### 4. Data

#### 4.1) Data and sample

My sample is from Thai listed firms on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET), 253 firms, excluding Banks and Financial services, Real estate investment trusts, during January 2000 to December 2020 and use period 2007 – 2009 for Thailand recession period, which GDP was negative and downward sloping. Data regarding financial statement is collected from DATASTREAM which all listed companies are required to provide every year. Furthermore, examples for firms in each stage, as well as the number of enterprises in each stage every year, are provided in Appendix 1 - 7.



Figure 2: Historical Thailand's GDP

#### 4.2) Dependent variable: Trade credit

Trade credit is defined as an agreement between company and company that can purchase products without payment in advance, which could pay to the supplier at a later scheduled date. In this paper, we focus on 2 dimensions which are the company's supply side as AR, the payment that the company will obtain from customers, and demand side as AP, the payment that company will have to pay to suppliers. AR measure as AR days per year the ratio of average AR at the beginning and ending of the year to total revenue and multiply by 365 days. AP days per year is the ratio of average AP at the beginning and ending of the year to Cost of Goods Sold and multiply by 365 days.

#### 4.3) Independent variable:

4.3.1) Firm life cycle stages

This study uses Dickinson (2011) method for measuring the firm's life cycle in each year, namely the introduction, growth, maturity, decline stages and shake-out which are based on the operating (CFO), investing (CFI), and financing (CFF) cash flow in each year. Cash flow can reflect the difference in the profitability, risk and growth of the company. Moreover, this classification of the life cycle phase combines the meaning of various research areas of economic research ((Tan and Ma 2016); (Wernerfelt 1984)).

The methodology set up on the subsequent cash flow pattern following Table 1. Where CFO, CFI and CFF represent Operating Cash Flow, Investment Cash Flow and Financing Cash Flow respectively.

	CFO	CFI	CFF
1. Introduction	<0	<0	>0
2. Growth	>0	<0	>0
3. Mature	>0	<0	<0
4. Decline	<0	>0	<0 or >0
5. Shake-out		Remaining firn	าร

Table 1: The methodology constructed on the cash flow pattern

4.3.2) Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI)

The Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) is calculated using formula ((GineviČius and Čirba 2007); (GineviČius and Krivka 2009); (GineviČius, PetraškeviČius et al. 2010)):

$$HHI = \sum_{i=1}^{N} d_i^2$$

Where  $d_i$  is the market share of the company i. N are the total numbers of companies in the market. The HHI values range from 0 (perfect competition, in which all companies' market shares are close to 0) to 1 (pure monopoly). According to the US Department of Justice's antitrust regulations, when HHI  $\leq 0.100$ , a market is considered competitive.

When  $0.100 \le HHI \le 0.250$ , a market is moderately concentrated. When  $HHI \ge 0.250$ , a market is highly concentrated ((Deltuvait  $\dot{e}$  and Vaškelaitis 2015); (Hays, DeLurgio et al. 2009)). The HHI is a cumulative concentration indicator that uses company market shares as weights, resulting in the sum of the squared attribute values, implying that larger companies gain a larger proportion of the HHI's value.

### 4.4) Control variables

We consider firm size (Size), Investment opportunity (TOBINQ), leverage (LEV), dividend Payout ratio (PAYOUT), Debt capacity (DC), Return on Assets (ROA), Book to Market (BTM), Herfindahl-Hirschman index (HHI), Operating Cash Flow (OCF) and Sale Growth Rate (SGR) and Cash (CASH) as shown in Table 2.



<u>scription</u>
de
Iriable
< S
ù.
ble
Га

<u>Table 2: Variable descri</u> ț	otion	
Control variables	Description	Unit
Firm Size	The natural logarithm of the total asset	MTHB
TOBINQ	Total market value divided by the net asset	%
Leverage	The ratio of total debt to total asset	%
Debt capacity	The ratio of fixed assets to total assets	%
Payout ratio	The ratio of dividend per share to earning per share	%
Return On Asset	The ratio of net income to total asset	%
Book to Market	The ratio of common shareholders' equity to market capital	%
Herfincahl-Hirschman index	Market concentration of industry by ranging from 0 - 1, meaning if 1 is only one company operating in the industry	ı
Sale Growth Rate	Sales in year t minus sales in year t-1, scaled by sales in year t-1	%
Cash holding	The ratio of cash holding to total assets	%
	ΓΥ	

#### 4.5) Empirical model

There are 3 different sets of regression models. Firstly, we will examine the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit, demand and supply side, by using data from a normal period. Second, we will further expand scope to examine the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during recession period by using pooled data of both normal and recession periods. Lastly, we will examine the impact of market concentration on trade credit during recession period. According to empirical testing, we proceed to multivariate analyses and employ fixed effect model.

4.5.1) The impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit.

The objective is to investigate whether introduction or mature firms have less AR or more AP days than mature firms. We apply the regression model from Esqueda and O'Connor (2020).

 $\begin{aligned} \mathsf{AR}_{i,t} &= \beta_1(\mathsf{Introduction}_{i,t}) + \beta_2(\mathsf{Growth}_{i,t}) + \beta_3(\mathsf{Mature}_{i,t}) + \beta_4(\mathsf{Controls}) + \mathsf{Year} \; \mathsf{dummies}_t + \alpha_i + \mu_{i,t} & --- (1) \\ \mathsf{AP}_{i,t} &= \beta_5(\mathsf{Introduction}_{i,t}) + \beta_6(\mathsf{Growth}_{i,t}) + \beta_7(\mathsf{Mature}_{i,t}) + \beta_8(\mathsf{Controls}) + \mathsf{Year} \; \mathsf{dummies}_t + \alpha_i + \mu_{i,t} & --- (2) \end{aligned}$ 

Regarding to equations (1) and (2), AR is the account receivable company i at time t and AP is the account payable company i at time t. Introduction, Growth and Mature are the stages of the life cycle. Year dummies are added by equal to 1 for a particular year and 0 otherwise.  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i}$  represents the firm fixed effects to capture any other time-invariant firm characteristic and  $\boldsymbol{\mu}_{i,t}$  represents error term of company i at time t.

To examine the H1a, the hypothesis can be written as

$$H_{0,1}: β_1 - β_3 = 0$$
  
$$H_{1,1}: β_1 - β_3 < 0$$

If Reject  $H_{0,1}$  interprets the introduction stage has fewer AR days than the mature stage.

To examine the H1b, the hypothesis can be written as

$$H_{0,2}: \beta_2 - \beta_3 = 0$$
$$H_{1,2}: \beta_2 - \beta_3 < 0$$

If Reject  $H_{0,2}$  interprets the growth stage has fewer AR days than mature stage

To examine the H1c, the hypothesis can be written as

$$H_{0,3}: \beta_{5} - \beta_{7} = 0$$
$$H_{1,3}: \beta_{5} - \beta_{7} > 0$$

If Reject  $H_{0,3}$  interprets the introduction stage has more AP days than the mature stage.

To examine the H1d, the hypothesis can be written as

$$H_{0,4}: \beta_{6} - \beta_{7} = 0$$
$$H_{1,4}: \beta_{6} - \beta_{7} > 0$$

If Reject  $H_{0,4}$  interprets the growth stage has more AP days than the mature stage.

4.5.2) The impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during Thailand recession period.

The objective is to inspect whether introduction, growth and mature firms have positive or negative impacts on AP days during Thailand recession period.

 $AP_{i,t} = \beta_{1}(Introduction_{i,t}) + \beta_{2}(Introduction_{i,t})^{*}RCI_{t} + \beta_{3}(Growth_{i,t}) + \beta_{4}(Growth_{i,t})^{*}RCI_{t} + \beta_{5}(Mature_{i,t}) + \beta_{6}(Mature_{i,t})^{*}RCI_{t} + \beta_{7}(Controls) + \alpha_{i} + \mu_{i,t} ---- (3)$ 

According to equation (3), RCI, is a dummy variable for recession period at time t.

To examine the H2a, The hypothesis can be written as

$$H_{0,1}$$
: **β**<sub>2</sub> = 0  
 $H_{1,1}$ : **β**<sub>2</sub> > 0

If Reject H<sub>0,1</sub> interprets the introduction stage has significant positive impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

To examine the H2b, the hypothesis can be written as

$$H_{0,2}$$
: **β**<sub>4</sub> = 0  
 $H_{1,2}$ : **β**<sub>4</sub> > 0

If Reject  $H_{0,2}$  interprets the growth stage has significant positive impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

To examine the H2c, the hypothesis can be written as



If Reject H<sub>0,3</sub> interprets the mature stage has no impact on AP days during Thailand recession period.

4.5.3) The impact of market concentration on trade credit during recession period.

The objective is to investigate whether introduction or growth or mature firms, which have high market concentration, are a significantly negative impact on AR days or a positive impact on AP days during recession period.

 $AP_{i,t} = \beta_{8} (Introduction_{i,t})^{*} HHI_{j,t} + \beta_{9} (Introduction_{i,t})^{*} RCI_{t}^{*} HHI_{j,t} + \beta_{10} (Growth_{i,t})^{*} HHI_{j,t} + \beta_{11} (Growth_{i,t})^{*} RCI_{t}^{*} HHI_{j,t} + \beta_{12} (Mature_{i,t})^{*} HHI_{j,t} + \beta_{13} (Mature_{i,t})^{*} RCI_{t}^{*} HHI_{j,t} + \beta_{14} (Controls) + Year dummies_{t} + \alpha_{i} + \mu_{i,t} --- (5)$ 

According to equations (4) and (5), HHI<sub>j,t</sub> measures market concentration at industrial j time t.

To examine the H3a, the hypothesis can be written as

H<sub>0,1</sub>: 
$$\beta_2$$
 and  $\beta_4$  and  $\beta_6 = 0$   
H<sub>1,1</sub>:  $\beta_2$  or  $\beta_4$  or  $\beta_6 < 0$ 

If Reject  $H_{0,1}$  interprets introduction or growth or mature firms have negative impact on AR days during recession period.

To examine the H3b, the hypothesis can be written as

H<sub>0,2</sub>: 
$$\beta_8$$
 and  $\beta_{11}$  and  $\beta_{13} = 0$   
H<sub>1,2</sub>:  $\beta_8$  or  $\beta_{11}$  or  $\beta_{13} > 0$ 

If Reject  $H_{0,2}$  interprets introduction or growth or mature firms have positive impact on AP days during recession period.



#### 5. Empirical results

#### 5.1) Descriptive statistic results

The statistic for the listed firms in Thailand excluding Banks and Financial services, Real estate investment trusts is 253 companies with an observation of 5,313 points from 2000 to 2020. The descriptive statistics of all variables before filtering outliers are reported in Table 1. The results show that average AP and AR days are 348.97 and 155.18 days respectively. The maximum value of AP and AR days is 486,855 and 106,690 days, significantly higher than 1 year which hardly believes that operating firms can allow very long AR and AP days so we decide to delete AP and AR days outliers. Tobin q (%), leverage (%), debt capacity (%), payout ratio (%), ROA (%), BTM (%), Sale growth (%), and Cash holding (%) are also considered to eliminate the outliers' values. For example, maximum Tobin q 79,094.04 % and minimum -3,370.32 % are filtered out from the data as well as maximum sale growth 24,464 % is eliminated due to hardly appearing in the general business.

After removing the outlier, the descriptive statistics in Table 4 show that over a 20year period, the average AP days and AR days are 49.88 days and 63.63 days, respectively, indicating that generally listed firms will have no balance account, the duration of AR and AP days are not equal, and firms are required to pay the invoice within 49.88 days while waiting for customers' payment for 53.63 days. In terms of company performance, the average of sales growth, Tobin Q, and ROA are 11.10%, 1.33, and 7.21%, respectively. In terms of debt capacity, the leverage ratio is 29.9% and the debt capacity is 55.8% under normal business circumstances. Furthermore, all variables are evaluated for normal distribution and P-value 0.05 is reported; as a result, all parameters are normal distribution.

The majority of Thailand's listed companies from 2001 to 2020 are in Table 5, one of five stages: shake-out (77.50%), decline (12.37%), mature (6.48%), introduction (3.30%), or growth (0.35%). There are very few growing enterprises in Thailand during the recessionary years of 2007 to 2009, which may make it difficult to analyze the effects of trade credit driven by these firms.

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Year	5,313	2010	6.056	2000	2020
Company ID	5,313	127	73.041	1	253
AP days	3,627	348.971	9798.527	0.000	486855.000
AR days	3,542	155.187	2489.668	0.000	106590.000
Firm size	3,728	21.888	1.607	16.757	27.355
RCI	5,313	0.143	0.350	0.000	1.000
Tobinq	3,729	202.987	2631.058	-3370.320	79074.040
Leverage	3,728	25.839	27.141	0.000	730.420
Debt capacity	3,728	55.789	22.382	-27.240	100.000
Dividend payout ratio	3,054	37.576	30.685	0.000	907501.000
ROA	3,557	0.072	0.092	-142.470	995.950
BTM	3,021	0.903	1.310	-33.330	33.330
HHI	5,255	0.656	0.475	0.000	1.000
Sale growth rate	3,466	0.111	0.475	-100.000	24464.000
Cash holding	3,724	0.260	0.227	0.000	97.960
Introduction	5,313	0.023	0.149	0	1
Growth	5,313	0.002	0.049	0	1
Shakeout	5,313	0.535	0.499	0	1
Mature	5,313	0.045	0.207	0	1
Decline	5,313	0.085	0.280	0	1

Table 3: Descriptive statistics of variables

Variable	Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Year	5,313	2010	6.056	2000	2020
Company ID	5,313	127	73.041	1	253
AP days	3,578	49.876	41.654	0	359
AR days	3,493	63.63	48.686	0	365
Firm size	3,728	21.888	1.607	16.757	27.355
RCI	5,313	0.143	0.35	0	1
Tobinq	3,031	1.332	1.31	-1.21	16.79
Leverage	3,124	0.299	0.202	0.01	1.49
Debt capacity	3,726	0.558	0.223	0.01	1
Dividend payout ratio	3,050	37.576	30.685	0	100
ROA	3,550	0.072	0.092	-0.85	0.987
BTM	3,014	0.903	1.31	-16.67	16.67
HHI	5,255	0.656	0.475	0	1
Sale growth rate	3,360	0.111	0.475	-1	8.33
Cash holding	3,724	0.26	0.227	0	0.98
Introduction	5,313	0.023	0.149	0	1
Growth	5,313	0.002	0.049	0	1
Shakeout	5,313	0.535	0.499	0	1
Mature	5,313	0.045	0.207	0	1
Decline	<b>G</b> 5,313 0	F (0.085	0.28	0	1

Table 4: Descriptive statistics of variables after filtrate outliers

## Table 5: Number of firms 'observation during normal and recession period

Stages of firm	Normal period	Recession period	Total	Portion (%)
Introduction	112	9	121	3.30
Growth	11	2	13	0.35
Shake-out	2,501	344	2,845	77.50
Mature	217	21	238	6.48
Decline	401	53	454	12.37
Total	3,242	429	3,671	100.00

Table 6 and 7 display Spearman and Pearson correlation for all variables in order to examine whether AR and AP days have any correlation with firm cycle stages as proxies as well as control variables or not. The results reveal that AR and AP days are significantly positive with most of the firm's stages except the shake-out stage. Moreover, there is no correlation coefficient among all variables that show more than 0.7, therefore, there is no multicollinearity problem. As a result, we can construct and measure the model for this study.

#### Test heteroscedasticity

We use The Breusch-Pagan test to determine whether there is heteroscedasticity problem in the model or not. The result report Probability > Chi2 equal to 0.000 so it implies that the models faced the heteroscedasticity problem. Therefore, the robust standard error is applied to all models in this paper.

Table 6: S	pearman	correlatio	'n

	10	/ // " N340	EUSC/					
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	
(1) ardays	1		VICE	-				
(2) apdays	0.394	1	×					
(3) introduction	0.097	0.046	1					
(4) growth	0.034	0.013	-0.01	ทย <sup>1</sup> าลัง				
(5) shakeout	-0.137	-0.048	-0.332	-0.107	1			
(6) mature	0.042	0.015	-0.046	-0.015	-0.495	1		
(7) decline	0.083	0.009	-0.063	-0.02	-0.676	-0.094	1	

Spearman rho = -0.094

Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)
(1) apdays	4												
(2) ardays	0.268***	<del>~</del>											
(3) firmsize	0.017	0.065***	~										
(4) rci	-0.031*	-0.038**	-0.038**	<del>~</del>									
(5) tobing	-0.038**	-0.118***	0.084***	-0.121***	-		-						
(6) leverage	-0.094***	0.005	0.237***	-0.012	-0.045**	4	]	la a.					
(7) debtcapacity	-0.031*	-0.176***	0.294***	-0.024	0.046**	0.282***		VE BAN					
(8) divpayoutratio	-0.194***	-0.194***	0.132***	-0.013	0.208***	-0.248***	-0.089***	NV411					
(9) roa	-0.192***	-0.203***	0.047***	-0.018	0.149***	-0.113***	-0.077***	0.365***					
(10) btm	-0.081***	0.014	-0.084***	0.070***	-0.299***	-0.156***	-0.011	-0.082***	-0.029	←			
(11) salegrowthrate	-0.077***	-0.026	0.035**	-0.039**	-0.028	0.040**	0.034*	-0.036*	0.121***	-0.007	<del>.                                    </del>		
(12) cashholding	-0.007	-0.101***	0.120***	-0.077***	0.217***	-0.167***	***060.0	0.179***	0.147***	-0.042**	-0.019	-	
(13) d_hhi	0.018	0.088***	0.030*	-0.029**	-0.106***	-0.017	-0.185***	-0.064***	-0.045***	0.001	-0.028*	-0.148***	<del>.    </del>
*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.	1		اT										

Table 7: Pearson correlation

#### 5.2) Empirical findings

5.2.1) Analysis of the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit.

In order to analyze the relationship between firms' life cycle and trade credit following the first hypothesis (H1). We use the fixed effect model with robust standard error to see whether firms in the introduction and growth stage have AR days but higher AP days than the mature stage or not. Also, to ensure that the fixed effect model fits this study, the Hausman test is performed which showed P value at 0.000, meaning that the fixed effect model can be applied.

The results in Table 8 show all firm life cycles have significantly positive effects on AR days at the significant level 1%. The coefficient of the introduction stage is likely to be higher than growth, shakeout, maturity, and decline which reflects that when introduction firms do business, they are likely to give higher AR to customers. However, the coefficient of growth, shakeout, maturity, and decline is not much different. Regarding H1a and H1b, P-value from hypothesis testing are 0.0608 and 0.71602 respectively, one -side hypothesis test, given P-Value 1 - (0.0608/2) = 0.9696 and (1 - 0.7160/2) = 0.8568, we cannot reject the null hypothesis H1a and H1b at the significant level 10%, meaning that firms in the introduction and growth stage don't have fewer AR days than the mature stage at the confident interval 90%.

On the other hand, the stage of firms except growth has a significantly positive impact on AP days at P-value below 0.1. which the coefficient of AP days in the introduction stage is the highest as similar to AR days, the coefficient of growth, shakeout, maturity and decline are not much different. According to one -side hypothesis test for H1c and H1d, it finds that P-value are 0.6181/2 = 0.3091 and 0.9811/2 = 0.4906 respectively. According to H1c and H1d, we cannot reject the null hypothesis, firms in the introduction and growth stages don't have more AP days than the mature stage. Our finding is aligned with Hasan, Cheung et al. (2021) that the trade credit significantly varies across the life cycle. However, there is no clear evidence that AR day's introduction and growth stages are lower than mature stage or AP day's introduction and growth stages are higher than mature stage. It could be that in order to create the significant difference,

introduction and growth stage might use more direct and indirect cost which is higher than loaning.

Regarding to control variable in Table 8, Leverage is significantly negative for AP days at significant level 10% that may imply when firm have high leverage, high risk factors, they will might force to lower AP days from suppliers. Debt capacity is negatively related with AR days at significant level 1% which imply firms, high debt capacity, will have low AR days. The impact of ROA and sale growth rate are negatively impacted with both AR and AP days at significant level 5% and 11%, respectively which also aligned with Chalil and Siregar (2021) mentioned that the cost required by the company to receive more AP days is significant than benefit obtained so when companied has poor profitability performance record, suppliers can mark up the prices of the products because they might foresee the delay in payment.



	(1)	(2)
VARIABLES	ardays	apdays
introduction	50.87***	19.73**
	(9.94)	(8.27)
growth	38.79***	15.97
	(8.43)	(10.89)
shakeout	37.27***	13.29**
	(7.34)	(6.74)
mature	37.23***	15.77**
	(7.53)	(7.46)
decline	35.57***	13.34**
	(5.99)	(6.42)
firmsize	11.09***	4.589
	(3.01)	(3.16)
tobing	-2.007*	-3.638***
	(1.09)	(0.96)
leverage	-15.61	-22.40*
	(12.11)	(12.50)
debtcapacity	-56.36***	29.4
1	(15.66)	(19.23)
divpayoutratio	-0.0664*	-0.0745
	(0.04)	(0.05)
roa	-61.70***	-29.69**
	(17.74)	(14.12)
btm	-0.45	-0.718
	(0.68) (213	ຢ (0.61)
d_hhi	-7.461*	-6.641**
	(4.07) EKS	(3.26)
salegrowthrate	-15.53***	-9.704***
	(4.31)	(2.44)
cashholding	-35.92***	-3.493
	(12.30)	(13.97)
Constant	-157.8**	-58.66
	(61.11)	(62.33)
Observations	2,052	2,057
R-squared	0.122	0.085
Number of companyid	220	220

Table 8: The regression result of AR and AP days with the firm life cycle

Standard errors in parentheses. \*\*\* p<0.01, \*\* p<0.05, \* p<0.1

5.2.2) Analysis of the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during recession period.

As following Table 10, the regression results display that during the recession period firms in the shakeout stage are statically negatively correlated at the significant level 1% to both AR and AP days as well as Decline stage is negatively related to AR days at the significant level 5%. For all stages' AR and AP days in recession, the period is likely to be lower than the normal period. Consistent with Horng, Chou et al. (2014), the recession period overall negatively impacted trade credit, AR and AP. The reasoning behind this was supply-side faced a shortage of financial access to bank loans so they compel the firms to decrease the supply of trade credit to customers and buyers become less willing to take more trade credit. Base on table 9, implies that introduction firms try to balance trade credit for the demand and supply-side but the mature firms seem to keep their AP days and reduce AR days instead

	AR days	AP days	AP - AR days	Meaning
Introduction	49.54	22.17	(27.37)	Deficit
Growth	37.55	14.76	(22.79)	Deficit
Shake-out	37.22	13.76	(23.46)	Deficit
Mature	36.29	14.11	(22.18)	Deficit
Decline	37.13	13.38	(23.75)	Deficit
Introduction*RCI	3.32	-24.14	(27.46)	Deficit
Growth*RCI		l	No data	
Shake-out*RCI	-6.48	-5.98	0.50	Surplus
Mature*RCI	-1.03	13.16	14.19	Surplus
Decline*RCI	-18.79	-2.1	16.69	Surplus

Table 9: The comparison of AR and AP's coefficient during normal and recession period

According to Table 10 with H2, we fail to reject H2a and H2c which means that AP days of firms in the introduction and mature stage don't have a positively and no impact during Thailand recession period at the significant level 1%, 5% and 10%. It is able to see from the table that the AP days coefficients are -24.15 and 13.17 which are not statistically

significant at 1%, 5%, and 10%. Our findings are insignificant in comparison to the expected hypothesis, which could be during the recession period, all firms encounter the same situation, which is difficult to gain external funding. As the introduction stage has a small sales volume, they would have minor bargaining power, even if they would like to extend AP but the suppliers cannot provide it with opposition to the mature stage. In addition, models (3) and (4) applied the same set of control variables which are included in the previous model.



VARIABI ES	(3)	(4)
VARIABLES	ardays	apdays
intro	49.54***	22.17***
	(9.43)	(8.39)
growth	37.55***	14.77
	(8.34)	(10.96)
shakeout	37.23***	13.77**
	(7.26)	(6.67)
mature	36.30***	14.12*
	(7.55)	(7.54)
decline	37.13***	13.39**
ne se	(6.08)	(6.32)
Intro*RCI	3.322	-24.15
	(25.00)	(15.57)
Growth*RCI		-
Shake*RCI	-6.484***	-5.974***
	(2.12)	(1.73)
Mature*RCI	-1.036	13.17
	(4.53)	(12.17)
Decline*RCI	-18.80**	-2.1
2/1-3	(8.46)	(5.67)
firmsize	10.45***	4.163
	(2.98)	(3.14)
tobing	-2.060*	-3.857***
	(1.10)	(0.97)
leverage	-15.16	-23.12*
	(12.04)	(12.40)
debtcapacity	-56.29***	29.67
	มม (15.71) ยาลย	(19.05)
divpayoutratio	-0.0646*	-0.0737
	(OR) (0.04) VERSITY	(0.05)
roa	-62.24***	-29.90**
	(18.23)	(14.47)
btm	-0.343	-0.657
	(0.70)	(0.64)
d_hhi	-8.059*	-7.505**
	(4.16)	(3.39)
salegrowthrate	-15.79***	-10.30***
	(4.24)	(2.52)
cashholding	-37.38***	-5.374
	(12.30)	(13.78)
Constant	-142.1**	-47.52
	(60.78)	(62.35)
Observations	2,052	2,057
R-squared	0.133	0.094
Number of companyid	220	220

Table 10: The regression result of AR and AP days with the firm life cycle during recession period

Standard errors in parentheses. \*\*\* p<0.01, \*\* p<0.05, \* p<0.1

5.2.3) Analysis of an impact of market concentration on trade credit during recession period.

We have already investigated the impact of firms' life cycle on trade credit during recession period. So, we broaden the study to combine market concentration factor in order to further examine whether the firms' trade credit in high market concentration are impact during recession period.

Based on the result in models (1), (2), (5), and (6) which summarize in Table 11 illustrates the AR and AP days' coefficient include and do not include high market concentration. It seems that net trade credit, AP – AR days, reverses from deficit to surplus that reflects firms with high market concentration, low competition, have strong bargaining power which results in the same direction as Cunat (2007).

Table 11: The comparison of AR and AP's coefficient during normal and high market concentration

,	AR days	AP days	AP - AR days	Meaning
Introduction	49.54	22.17	(27.37)	Deficit
Growth	37.55	14.76	(22.79)	Deficit
Shake-out	37.22	13.76	(23.46)	Deficit
Mature	36.29	14.11	(22.18)	Deficit
Decline	37.13	13.38	(23.75)	Deficit
Introduction*HHI	9.538	11.25	1.71	Surplus
Growth*HHI	-11.24	6	17.181	Surplus
Shake-out*HHI	-7.069	-6.293	0.78	Surplus
Mature*HHI	-6.45	-5.449	1.00	Surplus
Decline*HHI	-6.647	-10.24	(3.59)	Deficit

The regression results from Table 12 display that we fail to reject the null Hypothesis (H3a and 3b) which interpret the introduction and mature stage which have high market concentration are insignificantly related to trade credit during a recession period at any significant level of 1%, 5%, and 10%. However, the coefficient sign of AR days' introduction and mature as well as AP days 'introduction and mature seem to be in

the opposite direction which might imply that in recession period, the strong position companies i.e., mature stage have the ability to shorter AR days and extend AP days conversely with the introduction stage even in high market concentration.

VARIABI ES	(5)	(6)
	ardays	apdays
Intoduction*HHI	9.538	11.25*
	(8.28)	(6.38)
Growth*HHI	-11.24*	5.941
	(5.95)	(10.11)
Shakeout*HHI	-7.069*	-6.293*
	(4.06)	(3.22)
Mature*HHI	-6.45	-5.449
<u> </u>	(4.46)	(4.39)
Decline*HHI	-6.647	-10.24**
	(5.90)	(4.70)
Intoduction*HHI*RCI	14.15	-38.21
	(41.50)	(24.60)
Growth*HHI*RCI	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	-
///X0		
Shakeout*HHI*RCI	-4.082	-4.732**
/ RHACE	(3.28)	(2.22)
Mature*HHI*RCI	-3.184	5.436
1 Successo	(5.05)	(11.99)
Decline*HHI*RCI	-24.25**	-3.372
Equal A	(10.94)	(5.75)
firmsize	10.52***	4.262
2A	(3.02)	(3.13)
tobinq	-1.775	-3.642***
	-1.14	-0.963
leverage solidis	-15.31	-23.30*
9	-11.88	-12.37
debtcapacity	-54.88***	29.21
	(15.37)	(19.44)
divpayoutratio	-0.0614*	-0.0702
	(0.04)	(0.05)
roa	-65.54***	-34.72**
	(18.36)	(14.78)
btm	-0.293	-0.622
	(0.70)	(0.62)
salegrowthrate	-15.59***	-10.33***
	(4.15)	(2.45)
cashholding	-35.67***	-4.566
	(12.06)	(13.99)
Constant	-109.1*	-36.98
	(60.42)	(62.60)
Observations	2,052	2,057
R-squared	0.133	0.101
Number of companyid	220	220

Table 12: The regression result of AR and AP days with the firm life cycle for high market concentration

Standard errors in parentheses. \*\*\* p<0.01, \*\* p<0.05, \* p<0.1

#### 6. Conclusion

This paper examines the impact of the stage of firms listed in the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) on trade credit regarding firm risk and firm performance. The study uses firm-level data on about 253 listed firms and performs over 20 years from 2000 to 2020.

The regression results reveal that the firm life cycles have significantly positive effects on AR and AP days, except for AP's growth. However, the Introduction and Growth stages don't have fewer AR days and more AP days than the mature stage. Then we further investigate the effect of the firm's stage on trade credit during the recession period and the result shows that net trade, AP - AR days, from deficit reversed to surplus but AP days' introduction and mature stage have no positive impact.

Finally, we investigate the impact of market concentration on trade credit throughout the economic downturn. We find that net trade credit, AP - AR days, appears to turn from deficit to surplus, indicating significant bargaining power. However, the introduction and mature stage of AR and AP days, which have a high level of market concentration, are insignificantly negative and positive related to trade credit during a recession period, respectively.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

7. Appendix:

Appendix 1: Example of firms in each stages

Company name	Introduction	Growth	Shake-out	Maturity	Decline
4	SPVI PCL	CK POWER PCL	TTCL PCL	LOXLEY PCL	THONBURI MEDICAL
7	T ENGINEERING CORP	CAPITAL ENGINEERING	COM7 PCL	SINO THAI ENG	JAY MART
З	NEP REALTY	MBK PCL	WP ENERGY PCL	MALEE GROUP PCL	AJ ADVANCE TEC
		าลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ALONGKORN UNIVERSITY			













# REFERENCES



**Chulalongkorn University** 

Andrieu, G., R. Staglianò and P. Van Der Zwan (2018). "Bank debt and trade credit for SMEs in Europe: firm-, industry-, and country-level determinants." <u>Small</u> <u>Business Economics</u> **51**: 245-264.

Bancilhon, C., C. Karge and T. Norton (2018). "Win-Win-Win: The sustainable supply chain finance opportunity." <u>Report BSR, Paris</u>.

Biais, B. and C. Gollier (1997). "Trade credit and credit rationing." <u>The review of</u> <u>financial studies</u> **10**(4): 903-937.

Brennan, M. J., V. Maksimovics and J. Zechner (1988). "Vendor financing." <u>The</u> journal of finance **43**(5): 1127-1141.

Burkart, M. and T. Ellingsen (2004). "In-kind finance: A theory of trade credit." <u>American economic review</u> **94**(3): 569-590.

Canto-Cuevas, F.-J., M.-J. Palacín-Sánchez and F. di Pietro (2016). "Trade credit in SMEs: a quantile regression approach." <u>Applied Economics Letters</u> **23**(13): 945-948.

Canto-Cuevas, F.-J., M.-J. Palacín-Sánchez and F. Di Pietro (2019). "Trade credit as a sustainable resource during an SME's life cycle." <u>Sustainability</u> **11**(3): 670.

Casey, E. and C. M. O'Toole (2014). "Bank lending constraints, trade credit and alternative financing during the financial crisis: Evidence from European SMEs." <u>Journal of Corporate Finance</u> 27: 173-193.

Chalil, M. and S. V. Siregar (2021). "THE EFFECT OF TRADE CREDIT ON COMPANY PROFITABILITY." International Journal of Islamic and Social Sciences (ISOS) 1(3): 72-82.

Choi, W. G. and Y. Kim (2005). "Trade credit and the effect of macro-financial shocks: Evidence from US panel data." <u>Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis</u> **40**(4): 897-925.

Coulibaly, B., H. Sapriza and A. Zlate (2013). "Financial frictions, trade credit, and the 2008–09 global financial crisis." <u>International Review of Economics & Finance</u> **26**: 25-38. Cunat, V. (2007). "Trade credit: suppliers as debt collectors and insurance providers." <u>The Review of Financial Studies</u> **20**(2): 491-527.

Deloof, M. and M. La Rocca (2015). "Local financial development and the trade credit policy of Italian SMEs." <u>Small Business Economics</u> **44**: 905-924.

Deltuvait**ė**, V. and V. Vaškelaitis (2015). "Competition, concentration, efficiency, and their relationship in the Lithuanian banking sector." <u>Applied Economics: Systematic</u> <u>Research(1.1): 11-30.</u>

Dias, R., P. V. G. Novaes, R. Kogeyama and R. G. D. G. Donini (2022). "Firm Life Cycle Persistence, the Implied Cost of Capital, and Market Concentration." <u>Firm Life</u> <u>Cycle Persistence, the Implied Cost of Capital, and Market Concentration</u>.

Dickinson, V. (2011). "Cash flow patterns as a proxy for firm life cycle." <u>The</u> <u>accounting review</u> **86**(6): 1969-1994.

Esqueda, O. A. and T. O'Connor (2020). "Corporate governance and life cycles in emerging markets." <u>Research in International Business and Finance</u> **51**: 101077.

Fabbri, D. and L. F. Klapper (2016). "Bargaining power and trade credit." <u>Journal</u> of corporate finance **41**: 66-80.

Fabbri, D. and A. M. C. Menichini (2010). "Trade credit, collateral liquidation, and borrowing constraints." Journal of Financial Economics **96**(3): 413-432.

Ferris, J. S. (1981). "A transactions theory of trade credit use." <u>The Quarterly</u> Journal of Economics **96**(2): 243-270.

Garmaise, M. J. and T. J. Moskowitz (2003). "Informal financial networks: Theory and evidence." <u>The Review of Financial Studies</u> **16**(4): 1007-1040.

Ginevi**Č**ius, R. and S. **Č**irba (2007). "Determining market concentration." <u>Journal</u> of Business Economics and Management **8**(1): 3-10.

Ginevi**Č**ius, R. and A. Krivka (2009). "Multicriteria evaluation of the competitive environment in the oligopolic market." <u>Business: Theory and Practice</u> **10**(4): 247-258.

Ginevi**Č**ius, R., V. Petraškevi**Č**ius and J. Šimk**ū**nait**ė** (2010). "The influence of market concentration on the results of enterprise commercial activities." <u>Business:</u> <u>Theory and Practice</u> **11**(3): 185-193. Giroud, X. and H. M. Mueller (2010). "Does corporate governance matter in competitive industries?" <u>Journal of financial economics</u> **95**(3): 312-331.

Hasan, M. M., A. Cheung, L. Tunas and H. W. Kot (2021). "Firm life cycle and trade credit." <u>Financial Review</u> **56**(4): 743-771.

Hays, F. H., S. A. DeLurgio and A. H. Gilbert Jr (2009). "Concentration, the internet and pricing of bank assets and liabilities." <u>Research in Business and Economics</u> <u>Journal</u> 1: 1-13.

Horng, M.-S., J.-H. Chou and C.-M. Hsieh (2014). "The effect of 2008 financial crisis on trade credit: empirical evidences from Taiwan, China, Hong Kong, Japan and Korea." <u>Investment management and financial innovations</u>(11, Iss. 3): 99-109.

Kim, Y. and J. Joo (2013). "The moderating effect of product market competition in the relationship between advertising expenditures and sales." <u>Journal of Applied</u> <u>Business Research (JABR)</u> 29(4): 1061-1076.

Lester, D. L., J. A. Parnell and S. Carraher (2003). "Organizational life cycle: A five-stage empirical scale." <u>The international journal of organizational analysis</u> **11**(4): 339-354.

Levine, R., C. Lin and W. Xie (2018). "Corporate resilience to banking crises: The roles of trust and trade credit." Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis **53**(4): 1441-1477.

Long, M. S., I. B. Malitz and S. A. Ravid (1993). "Trade credit, quality guarantees, and product marketability." <u>Financial management</u>: 117-127.

Love, I. and R. Zaidi (2010). "Trade credit, bank credit and financial crisis." International Review of Finance **10**(1): 125-147.

Marotta, G. (2005). "When do trade credit discounts matter? Evidence from Italian firm-level data." <u>Applied Economics</u> **37**(4): 403-416.

Matias Gama, A. P. and H. Van Auken (2015). "The interdependence between trade credit and bank lending: Commitment in intermediary firm relationships." <u>Journal of Small Business Management</u> **53**(4): 886-904.

McGuinness, G. and T. Hogan (2016). "Bank credit and trade credit: Evidence

from SMEs over the financial crisis." International Small Business Journal **34**(4): 412-445.

McMillan, J. and C. Woodruff (1999). "Interfirm relationships and informal credit in Vietnam." <u>The Quarterly Journal of Economics</u> **114**(4): 1285-1320.

Miller, D. and P. H. Friesen (1984). "A longitudinal study of the corporate life cycle." <u>Management science</u> **30**(10): 1161-1183.

Petersen, M. A. and R. G. Rajan (1997). "Trade credit: theories and evidence." <u>The review of financial studies</u> **10**(3): 661-691.

Schwartz, R. A. (1974). "An economic model of trade credit." <u>Journal of financial</u> <u>and quantitative analysis</u> **9**(4): 643-657.

Tan, W. and Z. Ma (2016). "Ownership, internal capital market, and financing costs." <u>Emerging Markets Finance and Trade</u> **52**(5): 1259-1278.

Wernerfelt, B. (1984). "A resource-based view of the firm." <u>Strategic</u> <u>management journal</u> 5(2): 171-180.

Wilner, B. S. (2000). "The exploitation of relationships in financial distress: The case of trade credit." <u>The journal of finance</u> **55**(1): 153-178.

Yazdanfar, D. and P. Öhman (2017). "Substitute or complement? The use of trade credit as a financing source among SMEs." <u>Management Research Review</u> **40**(1): 10-27.

Chulalongkorn University

## VITA

NAME chaiwat sae-low

DATE OF BIRTH 26 June 1994

PLACE OF BIRTH Bangkok

INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED Chulalongkorn university

HOME ADDRESS

171/110 (Room 171/34) Soi suthipharm Nares Siphaya



จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย Chulalongkorn University